Impacts of Soil Stockpiling on Seed Bank Communities and the Availability of Nutrients

by

Jennifer Buss

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in Land Reclamation and Remediation

Department of Renewable Resources University of Alberta

© Jennifer Buss, 2020

Abstract

Soil stockpiles are used around the world to reclaim sites affected by industrial activities. Oil sands surface mining and in situ extraction activities in Alberta, Canada, have directly impacted more than 900 km² of land, with more development expected in the future. Soil stockpiles will be essential for the reclamation of large- and small-scale oil and gas sites across Alberta with over half of the disturbed area expected to be reclaimed using stockpiled soils. However, stockpiling soils can lead to the degradation of soil biological, physical, and chemical properties, so it is critical that we understand the potential implications of using this soil in reclamation. Therefore, I studied the impacts of soil stockpiling on seed banks, aboveground plant communities and available nutrients.

To investigate the impacts of soil stockpiling, plant communities and nutrient availability were sampled in eight soil stockpiles of varying ages across Alberta. Four stockpiles and soils of four nearby mature forests were sampled in the Cold Lake region (54.695 °N, 110.730 °W), and four stockpiles and soils of two mature forests were sampled in the Fort McMurray region (57.337 °N, 111.755 °W). Seed bank samples were taken from depths of 0-5 cm, 5-10 cm, 10-20 cm, 20-30 cm, and >50 cm and germinated in a greenhouse using the seedling emergence method. Aboveground vegetation cover was also estimated at these locations. Soil samples were taken from 0-10 cm, 10-20 cm, 20-30 cm, and >50 cm for a lab incubation to estimate the availability of macronutrients (NO₃⁻, Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, K⁺, H₂PO₄⁻ /HPO₄²⁻, SO₄²⁻) in stockpiled and mature forest soils using plant root simulator probes (PRS; Western Ag Innovations, Saskatoon, SK, Canada).

In Chapter 2 the impacts of soil stockpiling were quantified by seed bank abundance, species richness, functional group composition, and the relationships between the seed bank and aboveground plant communities. In Chapter 3 nutrient availability was compared between stockpiles and mature forests, as well as with depth. Nutrient availability was also compared across stockpiles and mature forests.

The results of the seedling emergence study showed that stockpile seed banks had higher seedling abundance and species richness than that of nearby forests but were dominated by grasses and non-native forbs. Most seeds germinated from the surface layer, with 92% of seeds germinating from the LFH layers in the forests, and 68% from the 0-5 cm layer in the stockpiles. Aboveground and seed bank communities were more similar in mature forests than that expressed in stockpiles.

As indicated by the soil incubation, stockpiles had higher availability of Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , NO_3^{-} compared to the mature forests. There was also high availability of NO_3^{-} below 20-90 cm in stockpiles. The variability with depth that was present in the mature forests for Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , clay content, and pH were not found in stockpiles, likely due to mixing. Variability was high across stockpiles for NO_3^{-} , SO_4^{2-} , and $H_2PO_4^{-/}$ HPO $_4^{2-}$ compared to mature forests.

Planting or seeding on these stockpiles with desirable reclamation species may be useful in the future to supplement the seed bank. Salvaging fresh topsoil to shallower depths could also help prevent dilution of the seed bank. Variability in nutrient availability across stockpiles could mean that management of stockpiles and reclamation sites should be done on a smaller scale and focus on differences across stockpiles. Overall, all stockpiles were dominated by grasses and non-native forbs, despite higher variability in N, SO_4^{2-} , and $H_2PO_4^{-}/HPO_4^{2-}$.

Preface

The following thesis is composed of original data generated and analyzed by Jennifer Buss, with no data having been published at the time of submission. Data from Chapter 2 "A comparison between reclamation stockpile and boreal forest plant communities" was presented in an oral presentation at the 2019 American Society of Mining and Reclamation (ASMR) Annual Meeting in Big Sky, Montana, USA. Chapter 2 has been submitted for publication to the journal Restoration Ecology. I was responsible for data collection, analysis, and manuscript composition. B.D. Pinno and S.A. Quideau were involved with the research design, and contributed to analyses, and manuscript edits.

For Chapter 3, I was responsible for data collection, analyses, and manuscript composition. B.D. Pinno and S.A. Quideau were involved with research design, and contributed to analyses, and manuscript edits.

Acknowledgements

I am grateful to several family members, friends, colleagues, and mentors for helping me through my graduate studies. I'd like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Bradley Pinno, for mentoring me for the last four years. I'm glad I took a chance and applied for that internship. It has taken me to some great places. Thank you to Dr. Sylvie Quideau for your supervision, and your mentorship. I have enjoyed my time becoming more of a soil person.

I would also like to thank my external examiner Justine Karst for all your time and effort. To the PI's on the Stockpile Project, Dr. Derek MacKenzie, Dr. Miles Dyck, and Dr. Brian Lanoil, I am grateful to you for lending me your labs and students for field and lab work. Support and funding for this project were provided by Canadian Natural Resources Limited and Natural Resources Canada.

A big thanks to all my lab mates in the Silviculture Lab and the Soil Biogeochemistry Lab for all your help, guidance, and support. You've all helped to make these a memorable and fun two years!

Lastly, thank you to my friends and family for your support over the last two years. I know it seemed like I would never leave the University of Alberta. This would not have been possible without you!

Table of Contents

Chapter 1- Introduction	1
1.1 Boreal forest region and Central Mixedwood subregion	1
1.2 In situ and surface mining	2
1.3 Stockpiling practices	3
1.4 Negative impacts of soil stockpiling	4
1.5 Direct placement	5
1.5 Study objectives	5
Chapter 2: A comparison between reclamation stockpile and boreal forest plant communities	7
2.1 Introduction	7
2.2 Methods	10
2.2.1 Study area	10
2.2.2 Field and lab methods	10
2.2.3 Statistical analysis	12
2.3 Results	14
2.3.1 Seed bank diversity	14
2.3.2 Functional group composition	14
2.3.3 Seed bank at depth	15
2.3.4 Relationship between seed bank and aboveground communities	15
2.4 Discussion	16
2.5 Conclusion	19
2.6 Tables and figures	21
Chapter 3: Availability of macronutrients in stockpiled and mature boreal forest soils	
3.1 Introduction	27
3.2 Methods	
3.2.1 Soil sampling	
3.2.2 Plant root simulator probes	
3.2.3 Soil preparation and incubation	31
3.2.4 Statistical analysis	32
3.3 Results	
3.4 Discussion	
3.5 Conclusion	37
3.6 Tables and figures	38
Chapter 4: Conclusion	
4.1 Study implications and management recommendations	43
4.2 Study limitations	44
4.3 Future research	45
References	
Appendix	

List of Tables

- **Table 2.1.** The most abundant plant species in the stockpile and soils of mature forests separated by functional groups. Up to three species were chosen per functional group based on the total seedling count or percent cover across all stockpile or forest sites. The total seed bank seedling count or aboveground percent cover is included in parentheses for each category.
- **Table 2.2.** Average seedling count and species cover (%) across stockpile and mature forest plots by functional group. P values from generalized linear mixed models (glmm) are included for each comparison. For stockpile sites n=24, and for mature forests n=18.
- **Table 2.3.** P-values from generalized linear mixed model (glmm) pairwise comparisons across depth for stockpile and mature forest seed bank seedling abundance. For stockpiles n=24, and for mature forests n=18.
- Table 3.1. Average nutrient supply rate (μg/10 cm²/7 days), pH, and clay content (%) for stockpile and soils of mature forests at 0-10 cm (surface) and >50 cm (subsurface). Standard deviation (n=8 for stockpiles, n=6 for mature forests) is included in parentheses. Results of t-test and Wilcoxon test are included as p-values.
- **Table 3.2.** Coefficient of variation (CV) for stockpile and mature forests (0-10 cm, 10-20 cm, 20-30 cm, and >50 cm depths included in this calculation).
- **Table 3.3.** pH and clay content across stockpile and mature forests with depth. Standard deviation is included in parentheses.
- **Table A1.** Average probe supply rate ($\mu g/10 \text{ cm}^2/7 \text{ days}$) of nutrients, pH and clay content (%) for the stockpiles and soils of mature forests across sampling locations. Surface samples were taken from 0-10 cm, and subsurface from >50 cm. Standard deviation is included in parentheses. Results of t-test and Wilcox test are included as p-values.

List of Figures

- **Figure 2.1.** Species abundances for aboveground (a), and seed bank (b) communities divided into functional groups (n=3). Site names are included on the x-axis, with all mature forests starting with 'M'.
- **Figure 2.2.** Proportion of relative seedling abundance for stockpile (a) and mature forests (b) as a function of soil depth. Relative abundance was calculated by dividing seedling abundance for each functional group at a given depth by the total seedling abundance for that depth.
- **Figure 2.3.** Average Sorensen's index per plot. Species with low abundances were excluded. Error bars represent one standard deviation around mean values (n=3).
- **Figure 3.1.** Nutrient supply rates (NO₃⁻, Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, K⁺, H₂PO₄⁻ /HPO₄², SO₄²⁻) across stockpile and soils of mature forests.
- **Figure 3.2.** Ratio of nutrient supply rates (NO₃⁻, Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, K⁺, H₂PO₄⁻/HPO₄², SO₄²⁻) at 0-10 cm >50 cm. The red line represents a ratio of 1, where the supply rate at 0-10 cm is equal to the rate at >50 cm.

Chapter 1- Introduction

1.1 Boreal forest region and Central Mixedwood subregion

The Boreal forest region covers approximately 25% of the world's closed canopy forest and 58% of Alberta, Canada (Alberta Parks 2015; Macdonald et al. 2012). The boreal houses a diversity of vegetation, habitats, wildlife, (Alberta Parks 2015) and provides ecosystem services locally, regionally, and internationally (Brandt 2009; Brandt et al. 2013; La Roi 2013). Some of these ecosystem services include nutrient cycling, water storage, wildlife habitat, and carbon storage (Kurz et al. 2013).

Within this region of forest is the Central Mixedwood subregion. The Central Mixedwood subregion covers 25% of Alberta (Natural Regions Committee 2006) with a mean annual temperature of 0.2°C and a mean annual precipitation of 478 mm (Natural Regions Committee 2006). In the upland portions of this subregion aspen, mixedwood and white spruce species dominate the overstory (Natural Regions Committee 2006). Understories of aspen stands in the subregion consist of a diverse array of shrub species including low-bush cranberry, prickly rose, and Canada buffaloberry (Alberta Parks 2015).

Approximately 50% of the Central Mixedwood is made up of well to imperfectly drained uplands with fine glaciolacustrine material, coarse glaciofluvial and eolian sands, and finetextured till, with an average moisture and nutrient status compared to other stands in the subregion (Natural Regions Committee 2006). Gray Luvisols are typically present on medium to fine-textured upland soils, with Dystric and Eutric Brunisols on coarse-textured sands (Natural Regions Committee 2006). One of the main land uses in the Central Mixedwood subregion is petroleum exploration, ranging from surface oil sands extraction to conventional oil and gas production (Natural Regions Committee 2006).

1.2 In situ and surface mining

It is estimated that mining has disturbed approximately 0.3 (Hooke & Kartin-Duque 2012) to 1 percent (Bridge 2004) of the world's terrestrial land surface. So far, mining activities cover greater than 900 km² of land in Alberta, Canada (Alberta Environment and Parks 2017; NRCan 2016), which will only increase with future development. Of the oil sands area, only 3.4% is surface mineable (Government of Alberta 2017). Surface mining occurs when oil sands reserves are less than 75 m from the surface (NRCan 2019). Large shovels and trucks are used to remove the oil sands and transport it to be extracted and upgraded (Natural Resources Canada 2019).

The rest of the oil sands in Alberta lies deep below the surface and is recovered through in situ mining. In situ mining involves drilling wells into the oil sands deposit and using steam to assist in extraction (Government of Alberta 2019). In situ mining disturbs less land per unit of production, however, the disturbance is more dispersed, and results in more fragmentation of the landscape (Jordaan et al. 2009). In situ mining produces a more linear footprint than surface mining due to networks of seismic lines, access roads, pipelines, and well sites (CEMA-SEWG 2008; Jordaan et al. 2009).

Geological deposits or 'overburden' overlies oil sands deposits (Government of Alberta 2019). Some of this material needs to be removed before surface and in situ mining can take place. The volume of soil removed from the surface of these areas is typically proportional to the size of the disturbance, with surface mining resulting in a larger volume of soil moved and stored

compared to in situ mining (COSIA 2013). These areas disturbed by mining will eventually need to be reclaimed, returning them to self-sustaining ecosystems (Government of Alberta 2017).

1.3 Stockpiling practices

Prior to mining, surface and subsoil are removed from an area and stored somewhere else until it is needed for reclamation. Upland topsoil is a valuable reclamation material, which can be a source of organic matter, plant propagules, is important for nutrient cycling, and enhances the growth of plants (Alberta Environment and Water 2012; Bowen et al. 2005; Fisher & Binkley 2000). Upland topsoil is also an abundant source of macro and micronutrients (MacKenzie 2006; McMillan 2005). Typically, topsoil is salvaged and stored separately from subsoil (Alberta Environment and Water 2012). Coarse-textured topsoil is salvaged to 15 cm, and fine-textured topsoil to 30 cm (Alberta Environment and Water 2012).

The depth of salvage has a direct impact on the amount of organic matter included in the reclamation material, with a greater salvage depth resulting in dilution of nutrient-rich organic matter from the surface (MacKenzie 2011). Organic matter and nutrient content of a stockpiled soil also depends on slope position and soil texture of the source material (Alberta Environment and Water 2012). Varying salvage depth also impacts the abundance of viable plant propagules present in the salvaged topsoil, with a deeper salvage resulting in dilution of the seed bank (Rokich et al 2000; Tacey & Glossop 1980). Once salvaged, the material is placed into a pile for storage until it is ready to be used for reclamation. In many cases this soil can remain stockpiled for decades, which can negatively impact their viability for reclamation (Ghose 2004).

1.4 Negative impacts of soil stockpiling

When soils are stockpiled it results in changes to their physical, chemical, and biological properties. During the removal and handling of soil with heavy machinery there is often a reduction in aggregate stability, compaction, and increases in bulk density (Abdul-Kareem & McRae 1984). These physical changes can impact soil drainage, aeration, and root growth (Abdul-Kareem & McRae 1984; Potter et al. 1988; Schroeder et al. 2010).

Decreases in aeration can also result in the development of anaerobic conditions of soil stockpiles, especially below 1m (Abdul-Kareem & McRae 1984; Davies et al. 1995). Chemical changes also include fluctuations in available nutrients, pH, and organic matter (Abdul-Kareem & McRae 1984; Ghose 2004; Paterson et al. 2019). For example, anaerobic conditions can result in increases of ammonium (NH4⁺) and decreases in pH (Abdul-Kareem & McRae 1984). Changes to nutrient availability and pH could impact the species that are able to grow in stockpiled soils (Davis et al. 2000; Nordin et al. 2005). It is unclear whether these changes will positively or negatively impact desirable reclamation plant species in Alberta.

Lastly, loss of viable seeds is a biological change that can occur with soil stockpiling (Dickie et al. 1988). The mechanical handling during stockpiling could damage many seeds (Benvenuti & Macchia 1995) and can result in the loss of greater than 65% of the seed bank (Koch et al. 1996; Scoles-Sciulla & DeFalco 2009). Once seeds are damaged, the anaerobic conditions that develop at depth in stockpiles could prevent them from repairing themselves, as oxygen can be required for cellular repair (Ibrahim et al. 1983; Villiers 1973). Therefore, stockpiling could limit the seeds available for revegetation.

1.5 Direct placement

Owing to the potential negative impacts of soil stockpiling, direct placement is preferred for reclamation over using stockpiled soils (Alberta Environment and Water 2012). Direct placement involves removing soil from a nearby unmined forest donor site and placing it directly onto a reclamation site without stockpiling it, thus preserving many of the plant propagules (Naeth et al. 2013). However, directly placing newly salvaged material onto a reclamation site is usually not feasible (Visser et al. 1984). Soil stockpiles will have to be used to reclaim much of the disturbed areas in the oil sands because donor sites and soils are limited. One mine is planning on reclaiming greater than half of their lease with stockpiled soils (I. Sherr 2018, Reclamation Vegetation Specialist, Canadian Natural Resources Limited, personal communication). Therefore, understanding the impact of soil stockpiling on the viability of the material will be important for future reclamation.

1.5 Study objectives

This study investigates the impacts of soil stockpiling and compares seed bank and aboveground plant communities, as well as nutrient availability, between soil stockpiles and soils of mature forests. Having viable seeds present in stockpiled soils will be imperative to ensuring the recovery of the boreal forest after mining. Many of the seeds of boreal forest species are not available commercially and seeding of reclamation sites will not always be feasible (Lanoue & Qualizza 2000). Therefore, further investigation into the seed banks and plant communities present on soil stockpiles is important for future management and reclamation. Chapter 2 aims to determine how soil stockpiling impacts seed bank and aboveground plant communities. Stockpile communities were compared to nearby mature forest communities based on seed bank abundance, species richness, functional group composition, and the relationships between the seed bank and aboveground plant communities.

Nutrient availability is important to plant growth and seed germination of many species (Baskin & Baskin 1998). Therefore, understanding the impacts of soil stockpiling on nutrient availability will be important for future reclamation. Chapter 3 investigates nutrient availability in stockpiled soils compared to that of soils in nearby mature forests. Another aim of this study is to explore variability in nutrient availability with depth to gain further insight into how processes change with stockpiling. Lastly, I investigate spatial variability of nutrient availability across stockpiles compared to the variability across mature forest soils to provide insight into the scale on which stockpiles should be managed.

Chapter 2: A comparison between reclamation stockpile and boreal forest plant communities

2.1 Introduction

Soil stockpiles are used in mining and other industrial operations around the world to store soil for eventual use in land reclamation. Soil stockpiling results in a loss of seed and a change in the plant community composition (Dickie et al. 1988; Golos et al. 2016). Loss of native seeds is problematic for reclamation because native seeds may not always be commercially available and seeding reclamation sites is expensive (Augusto et al. 2001; Lanoue & Qualizza 2000). Oil sands surface mining and in situ extraction activities in Alberta, Canada, have affected greater than 900 km² of land, with further expansion planned in the future (Alberta Environment and Parks 2017; NRCan 2016). Much of this disturbed land will need to be reclaimed using stockpiled soil. In fact, one oil sands mine is planning to reclaim 50% of its lease using stockpiled material (I. Sherr 2018, Reclamation Vegetation Specialist, Canadian Natural Resources Limited, personal communication) while another currently has 80 million m³ of stockpiled soil (Syncrude 2019). Stockpiles will be vital in future reclamation and having quantified the quality and composition of stockpile seed banks will help to make more informed reclamation decisions.

When soils are stockpiled a large proportion of seeds are lost due to mechanical injury from handling and stripping. One study in Australia found that 69% of the original forest soil seed bank was lost immediately after clearing and stockpiling (Koch et al. 1996), while another study in Nevada reported that the majority of the seed bank (79%) was lost immediately after stockpiling (Scoles-Sciulla & DeFalco 2009). Seed dormancy and viability can also decline as a result of anaerobic conditions that may occur in the middle of stockpiles (Abdul-Kareem &

McRae 1984; Benvenuti & Macchia 1995). Due to the loss of viable seeds that occurs during soil stockpiling, it is likely that the diversity of stockpile seed banks will have decreased compared to surrounding forests.

The open conditions and high resource availability associated with stockpile environments (Abdul-Kareem & McRae 1984) create the ideal habitat for weedy forb and grass species to establish and dominate the site (Brothers and Spingarn 1992; Dickie et al. 1988). Grass species such as Calamagrostis canadensis (marsh reedgrass) can remain viable in the seed bank for long periods and are adapted for dispersal at long distances (Ahlgren 1960; Conn 1990). A highly invasive species, Sonchus arvensis (perennial sow-thistle), is commonly found in disturbed areas (Hansen & Clevenger 2005) and can spread rapidly through vegetative propagation or seed (Lemna & Messersmith 1990). These reproductive and dispersal strategies allow some grass and non-native forb species to take over open areas quickly, such as stockpiles or newly reclaimed sites. Closed canopy forests are less likely to be invaded by non-native species than cleared and open areas because they create a barrier for wind dispersed species and shade out any shade intolerant invasive species (Brothers & Spingarn 1992; Cadenasso & Pickett 2001; Hansen & Clevenger 2005). Therefore, stockpiles will likely have more grass and nonnative species than the surrounding forest. Much of the seed bank input comes from existing or surrounding vegetation, so if a stockpile is dominated by non-native forb or grass species it is likely that the seed bank will be as well.

Seed numbers decline with depth in both stockpiles and forests since seeds are mostly added to the soil surface *via* wind or animal dispersal (Qi & Scarratt 1998; Rivera et al. 2012). At the same time, there are losses of seeds belowground due to seed predation, fungal pathogens, and germination of seeds at depth which never reach the surface (MacKay 1972). The result is a

gradient of seeds with depth where most of the newly deposited viable seeds are at the surface with the older less viable seeds in the lower soil profile (Harrington 1972). However, when soil is stockpiled, these seeds are mixed up and redistributed throughout the stockpile. Knowing where the seeds are distributed in soil stockpiles can help determine how much seed-dense material is available for reclamation.

The aboveground plant community is typically used to aid in management decisions without sampling the seed bank. However, the aboveground plant community is not always representative of the seed bank. In general, the aboveground vegetation is not a good indicator of the seed bank in forested communities when compared with other ecosystem types (Hopfensperger 2007). This is partially due to the presence of early successional species in the seed bank, which persist belowground, but not aboveground (Bossuyt et al. 2002; Drake 1998). However, after a disturbance the similarity between the seed bank and aboveground vegetation generally increases. Daïnou et al. (2011) found that the relationship between aboveground and seed bank communities was stronger in a logged area than in an undisturbed forest, while Hopfensperger (2007) reported that it decreased with time since disturbance in forests. Considering both perspectives, it is difficult to say how similar the aboveground and seed bank communities will be in formerly forested, stockpiled material.

There are many studies that evaluate stockpile plant communities. For example, there are studies that evaluate the decline in seed viability over time by burying seeds (Mackenzie & Naeth 2019), and other studies compare the seed bank present in stockpiles at different depths (Dickie et al. 1988; Golos & Dixon 2014; Iverson & Wali 1982). However, few studies have looked at the seed bank present in many stockpiles at once and compared those communities to the aboveground plant communities and nearby undisturbed areas. The aim of this study is to

evaluate eight soil stockpiles and soils of six mature forests at two study locations in Alberta and determine their reclamation potential as represented by seed bank abundance, species richness, functional group composition, and the relationships between the seed bank and aboveground plant communities.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Study area

Sampling took place in two locations in the central mixedwood natural subregion of the boreal forest in Alberta, an oil sands mine north of Fort McMurray, Alberta (57.337 °N, 111.755 °W), and an in situ cyclic steam stimulation (CSS) site near Cold Lake, Alberta (54.695 °N, 110.730 °W). The Fort McMurray site focuses on synthetic crude oil production through surface mining (CNRL 2019a). The stockpiles in this area are on average 10 ha. The Cold Lake site is thermal in situ oil sands, which extracts diluted bitumen from a well by inserting steam (CNRL 2019b). Stockpiles in this area had an average area of 0.3 ha. Both areas have a mean annual temperature between 1 and 2 °C and mean annual precipitation between 419 and 421 mm (Government of Canada 2019a, Government of Canada 2019b). All stockpiles from both locations were classified as upland topsoil stockpiles, which consist of the LFH layer and the underlying mineral soil, of upland soils only, stripped to a depth of approximately 50 cm.

2.2.2 Field and lab methods

In August 2018, we sampled a total of eight stockpiles (four from Fort McMurray and four from Cold Lake), aged 6 months to more than 28 years old, along with six mature forest sites. There were three sampling locations at each stockpile and mature forest ((8 stockpiles + 6 mature forests) x 3 plots = 42 sampling plots). At each sampling plot on the stockpiles, seed bank

samples were taken from five different depths: 0-5 cm, 5-10 cm, 10-20 cm, 20-30 cm, and greater than 50 cm.

At the Fort McMurray site, we sampled two mature forests that were approximately an equal distance from all stockpiles on site, while at Cold Lake we sampled four forests directly adjacent to the stockpiles. Forests were dominated by an aspen and white spruce overstory with an average stand height of 11.3 m and a diameter at breast height (dbh) of 11.4 cm. Mature forest seed bank samples were taken from six different depths: LFH, 0-5 cm, 5-10 cm, 10-20 cm, 20-30 cm, and greater than 50 cm.

The surface vegetation was also sampled at all 42 plots. Vegetation plots consisted of four 1 m² vegetation quadrats placed in each cardinal direction at 1.78 m from the plot center. In the quadrats, percent cover was determined to species. Soil pits were dug at the plot center after vegetation was sampled.

The seedling emergence method adapted from Buss and Pinno (2019) was used to estimate viable seed numbers and describe the seed bank community for all sites. Samples were mixed and sieved to 4 mm to remove large debris, and then 500 mL was sampled. Samples were then refrigerated at 4 °C for four months. Greenhouse flats were filled with potting mix and 500 mL of sieved soil was spread over the top at a depth of 1 cm. One sample was placed in each flat and flats were placed randomly throughout the greenhouse. Ten control flats were positioned evenly throughout the greenhouse to catch any species that could have come from the potting mix or aerially through the ventilation system. However, no seedlings germinated from the control flats. The greenhouse was set at daytime/nighttime temperatures of 22 °C/18 °C and trays were watered twice a day for the first month and once a day for the remaining three months.

Seed bank samples were left in the greenhouse to germinate for four months. All seedlings were identified to species and recorded. Individuals that could not be identified as seedlings were repotted to identify them at a later growth stage. Five individuals from each unidentified species were repotted and the ratios from these pots were used to account for any potential identification errors. After four months, few seedlings were germinating in the trays, and the trays were emptied.

2.2.3 Statistical analysis

All data analysis was done using R software (version R.3.1.1, R Core Team 2019). To compare species diversity between stockpile and mature forests, seedling abundance and species richness were calculated for each plot (n =3 for each stockpile or mature forest). Seedling abundance was calculated by taking the sum of seedling counts. Species richness was calculated as the sum of species per plot. A hierarchical generalized mixed model (glmm) was used to compare seedling abundance and species richness values between stockpile and mature forests (*lme4* package version 1.1-19, Bates et al. 2015). Random effects were nested and included region (Cold Lake or Fort McMurray), site (stockpile or mature forest), and plot. A Poisson distribution was used owing to the left skewed distribution of the data.

Community compositions of stockpile and mature forest sites were quantified using functional group count and cover for seed bank and aboveground communities. Functional groups included woody, grass, forest forb, native stockpile forb, and non-native forb species. The woody functional group included trees and shrubs, while grasses included all grass, sedge, and rush species. Forbs were split into native and non-native species using the *Flora of Alberta* (Moss and Packer 1994). Native species were further split into forest or stockpile forbs. Forest forbs were defined as native forbs that occurred in any of the forest samples. Stockpile forbs

corresponded to native forbs that occurred on stockpile sites only and were not present in the forest samples.

The average count and cover per plot were calculated for each functional group and compared between stockpile and mature forests using hierarchical generalized linear mixed models (glmm), with region, site and plot as random factors. To determine viable seed count variation with depth in both stockpile and mature forests, seedling abundance was compared across sampling depths using hierarchical glmm and pairwise comparisons (*emmeans* package version 1.3.2, Lenth 2019).

Sorensen's index was calculated to quantify the strength of the relationship between the aboveground and surface (to 5 cm) seed bank plant communities. Sorenson's index (S) is a similarity index that can be used to determine how alike two communities are with higher values indicating more similar communities. This was calculated for individual plots, and then averaged by site. Sorenson's index was calculated using the following equation (Legendre and Legendre 2012).

$$S = \frac{2a}{2a+b+c}$$

Where *a* represents the number of species present aboveground and in the seed bank, *b* represents species in the seed bank, but not aboveground, and *c* represents species present aboveground but not in the seed bank. Sorensen's index was chosen because it used presence/absence data, which avoided comparing two different metrics for species abundance (count and cover). Sorenson's index also has a higher weighting for species that are common than for those that are missing, which was desirable for this data because the seed bank has about half as many species as the aboveground community. Therefore, the presence of a species is

more informative than the absence of one. Species were omitted from this calculation if the total seed count for all sites was below two, or below a total cover of 5% aboveground to avoid including species that had little effect on the plant community. Hierarchical GLMM was used to compare the Sorensen's index proportions between the stockpile and mature forest and across stockpile sites using a binomial distribution.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Seed bank diversity

The stockpile sites had a higher total seed bank seedling abundance (p=0.041) and species richness (p=0.003) compared to the soils of the mature forest. A total of 1182 seedlings from 73 species germinated from 60 L of stockpile samples, while 305 seedlings from 42 species germinated from 54 L of mature forest soils. Overall, there were 89 species identified from the seed bank and 149 from the aboveground plant community, with the most abundant species included in Table 1. Only 16 tree seedlings germinated during the experiment, 14 *Betula papyrifera* (paper birch) and two *Picea glauca* (white spruce).

2.3.2 Functional group composition

Stockpile seed banks had more non-native forbs and grasses than soils of mature forests (Table 2.2). Averaged across stockpiles, non-native forbs had the highest seedling count per plot, followed by grasses (Table 2.2). Across all depths, non-native forbs and grasses were the most abundant functional group. Individually, all stockpiles had more grasses and non-native forbs compared to other functional groups (Fig 2.1a). Averaged across mature forests, grasses had the highest number of seedlings per plot (Table 2.2). Across all depths and mature forests, there were more forest forbs or grass species than other functional groups (Fig 2.1a).

Stockpiles had higher non-native forb and grass cover aboveground than mature forest, and mature forest had higher forest forb and woody species cover (Table 2.2). Averaged across stockpiles, grasses had the highest cover per plot (Table 2.2). Individually, all stockpiles had more grasses and non-native forbs compared to the other functional groups except for the 6month old and 7-year old stockpiles (Fig 2.1b). Averaged across the sampled forests, woody species had the highest cover per plot (Table 2.2), and individually all mature forests had a higher cover of woody species compared to other functional groups (Fig 2.1b).

2.3.3 Seed bank at depth

The greatest number of germinants was from the surface samples in both the stockpile (69% from 0-5 cm) and mature forests (91% from LFH) (Fig 2.2, Table 2.3). Seedling abundance for the mature forests did not differ below the LFH layer, but the stockpile sites had more seedlings germinating from the 5-10 cm depth than the lower depths (Table 2.3). Below 5 cm, stockpiles had a higher total seedling abundance (374) than forests (14, p<0.001). The stockpile sites also had a higher species richness below 5 cm (51 species) than the mature forest sites (10 species, p<0.001). The three most abundant species below 0-5 cm across all sites were *Agrostis scabra* (tickle grass), *Potentilla norvegica* (rough cinquefoil), and *Polygonum lapathifolium* (pale smartweed). These species each comprised over 9% of the total seedling abundance below 5 cm, adding up to 31% collectively.

2.3.4 Relationship between seed bank and aboveground communities

The mature forests had a stronger relationship between the aboveground and seed bank plant communities than the stockpile sites (p=0.002, Fig 2.3) as indicated by their higher Sorenson's index. The average Sorenson's index across stockpile sites was 0.4, and 0.6 for

mature forests (Fig 2.3). In addition, the Sorensen's index did not vary across stockpile sites of different ages (p=0.361).

2.4 Discussion

Stockpile seed bank diversity was higher than mature forest seed banks, which was unexpected given the loss of seeds that can occur when soils are stockpiled. A study from Australia found that the species richness and seedling emergence were higher on average for stockpiled sites or sites reclaimed using soil stockpiles compared to undisturbed sites (Comino et al. 2004). Alternatively, Tacey and Glossop (1980) found that material stockpiled for two years had a lower species richness and diversity than directly placed soil and undisturbed forest. Lastly, sites in Alberta that were reclaimed using stockpiled material resulted in lower species richness and diversity than a site reclaimed using fresh material (Dhar et al. 2019). If assessing stockpiles solely based on species diversity, the stockpiles we sampled could be a good reclamation material. However, high diversity is not always desirable especially when non-native species make up most of that diversity.

While natural and anthropogenic disturbances can lead to an increase in species diversity, anthropogenic disturbances often lead to a higher abundance of non-native species when compared to other disturbance types (Jauni et al. 2015). Even though the stockpiled sites had more seedlings germinating than that from forest soils, the species I observed may not be desirable for reclamation. The stockpiled sites had more grasses, non-native forbs, and were lacking woody species overall. Bellairs and Bell (1993) also reported a higher percentage of non-native species in stockpiles compared to undisturbed sites, with 15-40% non-native species in stockpiles and only 2.7% in natural sites. The concern is that this trend will continue once stockpiled soil is used for reclamation in the future. Dhar et al. (2019) reported that grasses

dominated sites that were reclaimed using stockpiled soils, with an average of 49.5% grass cover 19-23 years after reclamation.

The lack of woody species in the stockpile seed bank is partially because many woody species in the boreal forest are not seed bankers. Most boreal tree species do not have a seed dormancy period longer than nine months, except for white birch (Greene et al. 1999; Zasada et al. 1992). This may explain why *B. papyrifera* was the most abundant tree species germinating in the greenhouse. In the future, desired trees and other woody species may need to be planted because they are not guaranteed to be part of the seed bank.

The seeds that were found in the seed bank were concentrated at shallower depths for both mature forest soils and stockpiles. Dickie et al. (1988) also found that stockpile seedling abundance declined with depth in stockpiles that were less than five years old. A 4-month-old stockpile had 117 seedlings emerge from the surface, and 54 seedlings from a 2 m deep sample, while a 4-year-old stockpile had 130 seedlings from the surface and only 22 from a 2 m sample. In a seed burial experiment, the same trend was discovered, with seed germination declining with depth in soil that had been stockpiled for only six months (Rivera et al. 2012).

In forests across the world most seeds are concentrated near the surface, with most found in the litter layer. In the Acadian forest region of New Brunswick, 90% of seeds germinated from the organic layer, (Moore and Wein 1977) compared to 79% in a coniferous forest in Oregon (Strickler & Edgerton 1976). Having most seeds concentrated at a shallow depth in both older stockpiles and mature forest soils was expected since seeds are deposited on the soil surface from existing vegetation and wind or animal dispersal. Having more seeds in stockpiles below 5 cm in could be positive for reclamation, as there are more seeds available for reclamation.

Mixing of the soil that occurs when soil is stockpiled could redistribute more of the seeds to lower depths in the profile, which is likely why we are seeing more seeds below 5 cm in the stockpiles. However, as with the overall increase in diversity in stockpile sites, this increase in seedling abundance is not always positive. The species that are present below 5 cm are mostly non-native forbs and grasses, with lower numbers of forest forbs and woody species. Of the three species that were the most abundant below 5 cm *A. scabra* is a grass, *P. norvegica* a native forb, and *P. lapathifolium* a non-native forb. All these species produce many seeds each season (Rowe 1983; Staniforth and Cavers 1979; Werner and Soule 1976) and most can remain dormant for long periods in the seed bank (Conn et al. 2006; Staniforth and Cavers 1979). Therefore, they have a greater chance of remaining in the seed bank during storage.

Across most of our stockpiles and mature forests grasses and non-native forbs were consistently the most abundant functional groups despite differences in total seedling abundance. A limitation of seed bank studies in general is that the large spatial variability that exists within seed banks. Across an area, the seed bank composition can change spatially depending on micro topography with wind-dispersed seeds preferentially deposited on rougher surfaces (Vander Wall & Joyner 1998). Seed dispersal can also differ depending on the spatial pattern of aboveground vegetation and their seed outputs (Nathan & Muller-Landau 2000). This makes it difficult to estimate the seed bank community without sampling the whole stockpile, which is not feasible. Despite this spatial variability, most stockpiles were dominated by non-native forbs and grass species.

The mature forests had more similarities between the seed bank and aboveground plant communities than the stockpiles. Typically, older forests have a low Sorenson's index because of early successional species that remain in the seed bank long after disturbance and canopy closure (Bossuyt et al. 2002; Drake 1998; Hopfensperger 2007). However, boreal forests do not maintain as much of a seed bank as many other temperate and tropical forests lower in latitude (Johnson 1975). Therefore, the species present aboveground will more closely resemble the seed bank than other forest types resulting in a higher Sorenson's index. Short dispersal distances can also drive high similarity between aboveground and seed bank vegetation (Bossuyt and Hermy 2004), which we see in many of our woody species. An example of a higher Sorenson's index when comparing the aboveground vegetation to the litter layer in a mixed wood boreal forest site in Alberta was found by MacKenzie and Naeth (2007), with a calculated Sorenson's index of 0.65. Since the aboveground and seed bank plant communities are more similar in our mature forests, this raises the question of why the stockpile sites do not see the same pattern.

A low Sorenson's index can occur when there are species present aboveground that are able to produce many small seeds, which can then lead to these species being overrepresented in the seed bank (Eriksson and Eriksson 1997). Although there are more species present aboveground, the seed bank is taken over by a few species. This could be happening on our stockpile sites, which are dominated by non-native species in the seed bank. Several species that are abundant aboveground, produce many seeds (Davy 1980; Staniforth and Cavers 1979; Werner and Soule 1976) and dominate the seed bank on stockpile sites include: *D. cespitosa*, *P. norvegica*, and *P. lapathifolium*.

2.5 Conclusion

Stockpiles may have higher species diversity when compared to soils of mature forests. However, many of the species, such as grasses and non-native forbs present on the stockpiles, are not desirable on reclamation sites. Below 5 cm the stockpiles also have more non-native species. If many non-native species are present, soil should be stripped from deeper depths when

salvaging stockpiles for future reclamation sites to dilute the non-native seed bank and increase establishment of native species. On the other hand, if there are many desirable species in a stockpile seed bank, dilution of the seed bank by salvaging stockpiled soil to deeper depths should be avoided.

Overall, it appears that sampling the seed bank of stockpile sites could lead to better reclamation decisions. Since there could be a disconnect between the species observed aboveground and in the seed bank, managers cannot rely on the composition or abundance of aboveground vegetation to predict what species will regenerate from stockpiled soils used to reclaim sites.

2.6 Tables and figures

Table 2.1. The most abundant plant species in the stockpile and soils of mature forests separated by functional groups. Up to three species were chosen per functional group based on the total seedling count or percent cover across all stockpile or forest sites. The total seed bank seedling count or aboveground percent cover is included in parentheses for each category.

Stockpile

Aboveground								
Grass	Woody	Forest Forbs	Native Stockpile Forbs	Non-native forbs				
Agropyron trachycaulum (246)	Rubus idaeus (250)	Chamerion angustifolium (69)	Achillea sibirica (24)	Crepis sp. (41)				
Bromus inermis (150)		Fragaria virginiana (17)	Aquilegia brevistyla (6)	Polygonum lapathifolium (30)				
Deschampsia cespitosa (192)		Potentilla norvegica (15)	Geranium bicknellii (25)	Sonchus sp. (74)				
		Seed bank						
Grass	Woody	Forest Forbs	Native Stockpile Forbs	Non-Native Forbs				
Agropyron trachycaulum (40)	Rubus idaeus (26)	Epilobium ciliatum (33)	Achillea sibirica (3)	Crepis sp. (80)				
Agrostis scabra (120)		Potentilla norvegica (158)	Collimia linearis (5)	Polygonum lapathifolium (208)				
Deschampsia cespitosa (41)		Urtica dioca (10)	Lepidium densiflorum (20)	Trifolium hybridum (97)				
Mature Forest								
Aboveground								
Grass	Woody	Forest Forbs	Non-Native Forbs					
Calamagrostis canadensis (68)	Amelanchier alnifolia (122)	Cornus canadensis (121)	Taraxacum officinale (6)					
Elymus innovatus (82)	Picea glauca (271)	Galium boreale (65)						
	Populus tremuloides (988)	Lathyrus ochroleucus (73)						
Seed bank								
Grass	Woody	Forest Forbs	Non-Native Forbs					
Unidentified grass species (83)	Betula papyrifera (13)	Epilobium ciliatum (15)	Crepis sp. (4)					
	Rubus ideaus (3)	Fragaria virginiana (39)	Sonchus sp. (7)					
		Viola renifolia (22)						

Table 2.2. Average seedling count and species cover (%) across stockpile and mature forest plots by functional group. P values from generalized linear mixed models (glmm) are included for each comparison. For stockpile sites n=24, and for mature forests n=18.

		Seed bank		Aboveground			
	Stockpile Count	Mature Forest Count	р	Stockpile Cove	er Mature Forest Cover	р	
Non-native Forbs	21.3	0.7	0.022	9.5	0.3	0.003	
Forest Forbs	9.2	6.7	0.977	12.3	43.5	0.004	
Grasses	16.3	8.6	< 0.001	48.8	9.7	0.012	
Woody	1.2	0.9	0.717	13.5	110.9	<0.001	

Table 2.3. P-values from generalized linear mixed model (glmm) pairwise comparisons acrossdepth for stockpile and mature forest seed bank seedling abundance. For stockpiles n=24, and formature forests n=18.

Stockpile				Mature Forest						
	0-5cm	5-10cm	10-20cm	20-30cm		LFH	0-5cm	5-10cm	10-20cm	20-30cm
5-10cm	<0.001				0-5cm	<0.001				
10-20cm	<0.001	<0.001			5-10cm	<0.001	0.748			
20-30cm	<0.001	<0.001	0.797		10-20cm	<0.001	0.996	0.946		
>50 cm	<0.001	<0.001	0.959	0.375	20-30cm	<0.001	0.748	1.000	0.946	
					>50 cm	<0.001	0.374	0.966	0.612	0.966



Figure 2.1. Species abundances for aboveground (a), and seed bank (b) communities divided into functional groups (n=3). Site names are included on the x-axis, with all mature forests starting with 'M'.



Figure 2.2. Proportion of relative seedling abundance for stockpile (a) and mature forests (b) as a function of soil depth. Relative abundance was calculated by dividing seedling abundance for each functional group at a given depth by the total seedling abundance for that depth.



Figure 2.3. Average Sorensen's index per plot. Species with low abundances were excluded. Error bars represent one standard deviation around mean values (n=3). Site names are included on the x-axis, with all mature forests starting with 'M'.

Chapter 3: Availability of macronutrients in stockpiled and mature boreal forest soils

3.1 Introduction

It is estimated that mining has disturbed approximately 0.3 (Hooke & Martin-Duque 2012) to 1 (Bridge 2004) percent of the world's terrestrial land surface. Soil stockpiles will be used around the world to reclaim areas affected by mining. However, soil stockpiling results in many physical and chemical changes to the soil, which can have negative impacts to the environment, for nutrient availability, and plant growth on future reclamation sites.

There has been a lot of research done on soil stockpiling, but there is still uncertainty surrounding how nutrient levels change during stockpiling. When soils are stockpiled, material is handled by heavy machinery and moved, resulting in mixing and compaction. This disturbance can result in a reduction in aggregate stability, and resistance to compaction, changes to pore size distribution, and increased bulk density (Abdul-Kareem & McRae 1984). The breakdown and destabilization of soil aggregates during the stockpiling process could possibly lead to an increase in organic substrates subject to microbial decomposition (Das Gupta et al 2019), and therefore, an increase in nutrient mineralization, and nutrient availability (Larney & Angers 2012; Wick et al. 2008). An increase in decomposition of organic matter can also occur in soil stockpiles as the result of the mixing of topsoil rich in organic matter and subsoil also resulting in an increase in available soil nutrients (Ussiri & Lal 2005; Lorenz & Lal 2007). Conversely, having more available nutrients can cause leaching due to increased mobility, resulting in a net decrease in some nutrients (Ghose 2004; Mushia et al. 2016; Paterson et al. 2019). It is uncertain whether stockpiling will result in an increase or decrease in available nutrients compared to nearby mature forest sites. However, soil stockpiles will be used to reclaim much of the area disturbed by mining, and therefore it is

important for managers to understand how nutrient availability could change to ensure the success of future reclamation.

Nutrient availability in the boreal forest and in stockpiled soil impact plant growth and diversity. In particular, macronutrients that may impact plant growth and seed germination include: nitrogen (N), calcium (Ca), magnesium (Mg), potassium (K), phosphorous (P), and sulfur (S), among other nutrients. The boreal forest is considered to be nutrient limited, with N being the most limiting nutrient (Fisher and Binkley 2000; Magnani et al. 2007). Nitrogen is mostly available to plants as NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺, and is the nutrient most often limiting for plant growth (Nordin et al. 2005; Schulze 1989; Sponseller et al. 2016). Both Ca and Mg are important for photosynthesis, and Ca is needed for cell division and cell wall synthesis (Hepler 2005; Taiz & Zeiger 2010). Potassium (K) is needed for enzyme activation and osmoregulation and if limited, plants become more sensitive to abiotic and biotic stresses (Hawkesford et al. 2012). Another nutrient that can be growth-limiting in the boreal forest is P (Chapin 1980; Maynard et al. 2014; Wieder et al. 2015). Lastly, S can limit tree seedling growth (Ericsson 1995) and, when in excess, can negatively impact plant metabolism, yield, and delay flowering (Rennenberg 1984). Understanding how stockpiling impacts availability of these nutrients will help to inform possible limitations to plant growth in these highly modified soils.

Sampling nutrient availability of natural forests before stockpiling informs managers on the range of availability found in natural forests before soil salvage. If nutrient availabilities stray too far above or below these reference conditions it can have negative impacts on plant growth and diversity. It is important to understand processes and nutrient levels that occur in the natural environment before we can understand trends in stockpiled soils. That is why it is critical to compare stockpiled soils to a reference, or undisturbed mature forest site.
Vertical variability in many soil nutrients, such as Ca, Mg, and N, occurs in boreal forest soils due to pedogenic processes, geological parent material, and inputs of litter. For example, Luvisols, which are a common soil type in the upland Central Mixedwood Subregion, have an increase in clay content at depth due to clay eluviation and illuviation (Howitt & Pawluk 1985). Translocation of clay and mineral weathering of parent material in Luvisols can also result in increases in nutrients such as Ca and Mg in the subsoil (Santos et al. 1986). As microbes decompose litter, nitrogen is released, increasing N at the surface, or at depth due to leaching (Startsev et al. 2008). Therefore, sampling the nearby mature forest sites gives an idea of the processes that occur in nearby undisturbed soil, and trends that occur with depth in these areas. When soils are removed and handled during stockpiling, uneven mechanical mixing of the A, B, and C horizons can occur (Ussiri & Lal 2007). This mixing could decrease variation in nutrient availability with depth.

In addition to vertical variation, nutrients and soil pH may also vary horizontally in forest soils (Bartels & Chen 2010; Bruckner et al. 1999; Laverman et al. 2000). Nutrient variability in forests is influenced by spatial variability in plant community composition. For example, a decrease in pH occurs in coniferous stands due to acidic litter, which can also decrease nitrate production (Ste-Marie & Paré 1999). Spatial patterns in nutrient availability can also impact plant communities, with shifts in N and base cation availability in the boreal forest resulting in shifts in the over and understory plant communities (Giesler et al. 1998). Once stockpiles are created, vegetation is removed and material is mixed and homogenized, which could reduce variability in nutrient availability across stockpiles.

Some studies have evaluated changes to pH and nutrients in stockpiles (Abdul-Kareem & McRae (1984), Birnbaum et al. (2017)), however, from the Boreal region of Alberta there are only

two studies, to the best of our knowledge, that have researched the effects of stockpiling on nutrients (Das Gupta et al. 2019; Mackenzie & Naeth 2019). Understanding how the availability of macronutrients changes with soil stockpiling will be crucial for estimating nutrient limitations for plant growth on stockpiles in Alberta. In addition, most studies have only sampled two or three stockpiles (Abdul-Kareem & McRae 1984; Das Gupta et al. 2019; Wick et al. 2009), with some studies sampling up to eight stockpiles (Mackenzie & Naeth 2019). Due to the inherent variability of natural soils, combined with the variability introduced during soil stockpiling, we sampled eight stockpiles across Alberta to better understand variability across stockpiles. The aim of this study was to explore the impact of stockpiling soil on the availability of nutrients. More specifically, the objectives included comparing nutrient supply rates of stockpiles to nearby mature forests, and comparing supply rates across stockpiles and at different sampling depths.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Soil sampling

A total of eight stockpiles were sampled, along with six natural boreal forest soils; the stockpiles varied in age from six months to greater than 28 years old. Four stockpiles were sampled from an oil sands mine north of Fort McMurray, Alberta and four from an in situ cyclic steam stimulation (CSS) bitumen extraction operation northwest of Cold Lake, Alberta. All stockpiles were vegetated by mostly grasses and non-native forbs (see Chapter 2). Four mature forests were sampled at the Cold Lake site and two at the Fort McMurray site. The overstory of these mature forests were dominated by trembling aspen (*Populus tremuloides*) and white spruce (*Picea glauca*) trees. Both sampling locations were in the Central Mixedwood Subregion of Alberta, Canada, with the soils in the mature forests classified as Gray Luvisols. Three sub-samples were taken from randomly distributed plots at least 10 m apart from each other at each stockpile and mature forests

at 0-10 cm. Samples were also taken from 10-20 cm, 20-30 cm and greater than 50 cm at each stockpile and mature forest.

3.2.2 Plant root simulator probes

Plant root simulator probes (PRS; Western Ag Innovations, Saskatoon, SK, Canada) were used to measure availability of soil nutrients (NO₃⁻, Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, K⁺, H₂PO₄⁻, HPO₄²⁻, and SO₄²⁻). Ammonium, NH₄⁺,was also measured, but was not included in the results because it was below detection limits for many of the samples. Soil samples were incubated in the lab rather than in the field to quantify the potential nutrient supply under optimum moisture conditions and a controlled temperature. Given that the stockpiles were from two sampling locations in Alberta, a lab incubation allowed for the soils to be analyzed under the same environmental conditions, and limiting confounding local climate factors (Johnson et al. 2010, 2011).

3.2.3 Soil preparation and incubation

Field capacity was determined for all samples by first sieving samples with a 2 mm sieve. Then samples were placed into rings and onto 1 bar ceramic plates. Samples were fully saturated with deionized water for 24 hours. Samples were then placed into a pressurized extractor at 0.3 bar for 24 hours and oven dried at 105°C for 48 hours. Prior to incubation, samples were stored at 4°C.

Field moist soil samples (100 g each) were thoroughly mixed with 100 g of pure sand to increase aeration, since many samples were above field capacity. Then using the field capacity measurements, each sample was brought to 60% field capacity by adding deionized water. The amount of water added to each sample was calculated on the basis of the 100 g of soil, as the sand was found to be inert, with a minimal water content and water holding capacity. Samples were then pre-incubated for 1 week (Kusbach & Miegroet 2013) at 25°C.

After one week of pre-incubation, PRS probes were added to measure availability of nutrients within the soil. A single pair of probes (1 cation and 1 anion) were added to the samples and removed after 7 days (1-week burial period) incubation. PRS probes were then rinsed with deionized water and returned to Western Ag Innovations for analysis. All nutrients except NO₃⁻ were quantified using inductively coupled plasma spectroscopy. Nitrate, NO₃⁻, supply rates were determined colorimetrically with an automated flow injection analysis system. Ammonium supply rates were also measured, but most of them were below detection limits (Western Ag 2019).

3.2.4 Statistical analysis

All data analysis was done using R software (version R.3.1.1, R Core Team 2019). To account for the effect of sampling location (Fort McMurray and Cold Lake) on nutrient availability, clay content and pH, t-test and Wilcoxon tests were used to compare average supply rates of macronutrients, (NO₃⁻, Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, K⁺, H₂PO₄⁻ /HPO₄², SO₄²⁻) pH, and clay content between sampling locations (Table A1). A t-test was used if the data was normally distributed, and Wilcoxon test if not normally distributed. If a difference was found, analyses were done separately for a nutrient for the Fort McMurray and Cold Lake locations. The only nutrient that showed a difference between the sampling locations was SO₄²⁻, as well as clay content.

To compare nutrient supply rates, clay content, and pH between stockpile and soils of mature forests, t-test and Wilcoxon tests were used. T-tests and Wilcoxon test were also used to compare nutrient supply rates, pH, and clay content between the surface (0-10 cm) and subsurface (>50 cm) depths.

The availability of nutrients was also compared at the surface (0-10 cm) and subsurface (>50 cm) depths using ratios of nutrient supply rates. These ratios were calculated by dividing the average supply rate at 0-10 cm by the average supply rate at greater than 50 cm. When ratios are

above one, supply rates are greater at 0-10 cm, and when ratios are less than one, rates are greater at greater than 50 cm.

To quantify variability across stockpile and mature forests the coefficient of variation was calculated for all nutrients. The coefficient of variation is calculated by dividing the standard deviation of nutrient availability across the stockpiles by the mean availability for stockpiles. This was also done for mature forests. All depths (0-10 cm, 10-20 cm, 20-30 cm, and 80-90 cm) were included in the standard deviation and mean calculations. Higher coefficients correlate to more variation of nutrients across stockpile or mature forest sites.

3.3 Results

The stockpile sites had higher supply rates of NO_3^- , Ca^{2+} , and Mg^{2+} , but similar rates for K⁺, H₂PO₄⁻/HPO₄²⁻, SO₄²⁻, pH, and clay content compared to the mature forests at 0-10 cm (Table 3.1, Fig 3.1). At greater than 50 cm, clay content was higher in soils of the mature forests compared to the stockpiles, and NO_3^- was higher in the stockpiles (Table 3.1).

The mature forests had more variability in soil properties with depth. Overall, the mature forests had higher pH, clay content, and availability of Mg^{2+} and Ca^{2+} in the subsurface (>50 cm) than at the surface (p values all <0.05). Across all individual mature forests, Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} surface to subsurface supply ratios were less than one, meaning that the supply rate was higher at greater than 50 cm compared to 0-10 cm (Fig 3.2).

Overall, the stockpile sites had little variability with depth, having similar nutrient supply rates, clay content, and pH at the surface compared to the subsurface (p values all >0.05). Across individual stockpiles, Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} surface to subsurface ratios varied, with some stockpiles having ratios above one, and some below one (Fig 3.2).

Soil pH was also more variable with depth in the mature forests than in stockpiled soils. The stockpile sites had an average soil pH of 6.4 at 0-10 cm, and 6.6 at >50 cm (p>0.05), and mature forest soils had an average pH of 5.7 at 0-10 cm and 6.8 at >50 cm (Table 3, p=0.026).

Spatial variability among sites, as represented by the coefficient of variation, was higher in the stockpile sites for NO_3^- , SO_4^{2-} , $H_2PO_4^-/HPO_4^{2-}$, and K^+ and higher for mature forest sites for Ca^{2+} , and Mg^{2+} (Table 3.2). Average availability of SO_4^{2-} was higher for the Fort McMurray stockpiles than for the Cold Lake stockpiles (p=0.023), with no difference in availability for the mature forests across the two locations (p=0.533). The six-month-old stockpile had a neutral pH of 6.4, and the mature forest, M.2, had the highest pH at all depths (Table 3).

3.4 Discussion

Nitrate was higher in the stockpiles than the mature forest soils at both the surface and subsurface depths. Since there is so much variability with N mineralization during stockpiling, I was not sure what to expect for NO₃⁻ supply rates in the stockpiles compared to soils of mature forests. This higher availability of N in stockpiles could be due to increased mineralization after disturbance (Stark & Redente 1987). A combination of topsoil rich in organic matter and subsoil material, low in organic matter, can result in an increase in N in stockpiles, especially at depth, compared to undisturbed soils. The soil salvaging and stockpiling processes break down and destabilize soil aggregates, which could lead to an increase in decomposition of organic matter (Das Gupta et al 2019), and therefore, an increase in nutrient mineralization, and availability (Larney & Angers 2012; Wick et al. 2008).

Often stockpiles become anaerobic at depth, which results in the accumulation of NH_4^+ (Abdul-Kareem & McRae 1984). However, the lab incubation was done under aerobic conditions. Therefore, it is likely that NH_4^+ that was present in the soil could have been transformed into NO_3^- during storage or the incubation. Storage of field moist samples for as little as 24 hours to four days may lead to the elevation of NO_3^- (Edmeades et al. 1985; Ross & Bartlett 1990; Van Miegroet 1995). Conversely, these storage conditions were constant across all samples, and simulate processes and transformations that are likely to take place after stockpile placement on a reclamation site. These methods still allow an estimate of N in stockpiled soils.

Both Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} availability were higher in the stockpiles at the surface than in soils of the mature forests. It was uncertain whether availability of Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} would increase or decrease with stockpiling, but stockpiling would result in a mixing of soil, which could be a factor in the increase of these nutrients at the surface of soil stockpiles (Paterson et al. 2019; Wick et al. 2009).

Variability in nutrients with depth in boreal forest soils is to be expected. The mature forest soils we sampled had more Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} and higher clay content in their subsoils compared to the surface. However, when soils are stockpiled, fresh soil is picked up and moved to a new location using heavy machinery. During this process, material that was originally found on the surface can be buried at depth and vice versa. We expected the mixing of soil to influence the variability of nutrients with depth. Once this material was stockpiled and mixed, Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} supply rates were not consistently higher at the subsurface, and Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , and clay content were similar between the surface and the subsurface depths. Paterson et al. (2019) also found an increase in clay with depth in their undisturbed sites, but no increase in clay with depth in the stockpiles. The same trend in variability with depth is found for pH in the mature forest sites. The increase in pH at depth in the mature forest sites is likely correlated with the increase in Ca^{2+} availability. However, once stockpiled, there is also no change in pH with depth.

Spatial variability in nutrients was found across stockpile and mature forest sites. Specifically, NO₃⁻ was more variable across stockpiles than across the mature forests, likely due to the differences in salvaged material. There is also high spatial variability in nutrients in the boreal forest (Bartels & Chen 2010; Bruckner et al. 1999; Laverman et al. 2000), and when material is salvaged there is even more variability introduced by the uneven mixing of soil horizons during the salvaging process. When material is stockpiled, the organic matter is mixed unevenly throughout the pile, resulting in variation in N mineralization, and therefore N availability. The variability in N, which is one of the most limiting nutrients in forest soils (Nordin et al. 2005; Schulze 1989; Sponseller et al. 2016), will impact management of stockpiled soils. Stockpiles will have to be managed and monitored individually to account for spatial variation present in boreal forests as well as variation introduced during the salvaging process.

Due to the proximity of industrial operations, variability in SO_4^{2-} increased in the stockpiles when compared to the mature forest sites. The availability of SO_4^{2-} was higher on stockpiles at the Fort McMurray site than the Cold Lake sites, with no differences between locations for the mature forest sites. Percy et al. (2012) also found higher availability of SO_4^{2-} , using PRS probes, closer to oil sands mining and extraction facilities. Sulphate could be deposited as a result of oil sands mining operations (Sorenson et al. 2017). The availability of SO_4^{2-} may not be as high in soils of the Fort McMurray mature forests because concentrations decrease further from the forest edge (Percy et al. 2012).

Trends with $H_2PO_4^{-}/HPO_4^{2-}$, and Ca^{2+} are likely linked to changes in pH. Phosphate availability was similar across stockpiles and mature forests except for the six-month-old stockpile. The increase in phosphate availability in the six-month-old stockpile corresponds to the neutral pH value (6.4), as phosphate is the most available at an intermediate pH around 6-7 (Dickinson

2002; Price 2006). Variability in Ca^{2+} across soils could also be related to pH. Ca^{2+} was more variable in the mature forests than the stockpile sites, however, this could be partially attributed to the high availability of Ca^{2+} in one mature forest (M.2). This site (M.2) also has the highest pH of all the mature forests (7.4) and Ca^{2+} is more available at a pH above 7 (Dickinson 2002; NRCS 1998).

Soil pH moderates the availability of nutrients to plants, and N, P, Mg, K, and S are the most available at an intermediate pH (Dickinson 2002). A soil pH between 6.5 and 7.5 is optimum for plant nutrient availability (Ghose 2004), and the average pH across all stockpiles was within this range for all depths. As well, the soil pH of stockpiles was comparable to the reference mature forest sites, which is likely good news for nutrient availability.

3.5 Conclusion

Having more available N in stockpiled soil can be an advantage since N is often a limiting nutrient, although, N could also leach out of the soil. The mixing of soil during soil stockpiling impacts Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , clay content and pH variability with depth. However, over time soil processes will occur, and these nutrients could move down the profile along with clay. Also, increased spatial variation in NO_3^- , SO_4^{2-} , and $H_2PO_4^-/HPO_4^{2-}$ across stockpiles could indicate that management of stockpiles and reclamation sites should be executed on a smaller scale and focus on differences across individual stockpiles. Moreover, if soils are salvaged from the same area they are likely to be more variable once stockpiled. Thus, sampling should examine individual stockpiles in order to optimize utilization.

3.6 Tables and figures

Table 3.1. Average nutrient supply rate ($\mu g/10 \text{ cm} 2/7 \text{ days}$), pH, and clay content (%) for stockpile and soils of mature forests at 0-10 cm (surface) and >50 cm (subsurface). Standard deviation (n=8 for stockpiles, n=6 for mature forests) is included in parentheses. Results of t-test and Wilcoxon test are included as p-values.

	Surface		
	Stockpile	Mature Forest	р
NO ₃	15.3 (7.3)	2.6 (2.4)	0.001
Ca ²⁺	576.0 (453.1)	231 (312.5)	0.02
Mg ²⁺	109.7 (49.2)	53.8 (60.9)	0.059
SO ₄ ²⁻ (Fort McMurray)	42.2 (32.8)	6.7 (0.4)	0.133
SO ₄ ²⁻ (Wolf Lake)	8.1 (0.6)	8.3 (1.8)	0.886
$H_2PO_4^{-}/HPO_4^{-}$	5.6 (9.4)	2.4 (2.0)	0.852
K ⁺	49.5 (42.0)	37.2 (12.5)	0.454
рН	6.4 (1.0)	5.7 (0.8)	0.228
Clay (Fort McMurray)	26.9 (7.1)	29.6 (15.0)	0.800
Clay (Wolf Lake)	11.9 (2.6)	11.5 (2.8)	0.686

:	Su	ıb	SI	u	rf	a	C	е	

	Stockpile	Mature Forest	р
NO ₃	44.6 (38.4)	2.0 (1.7)	0.016
Ca ²⁺	816.6 (491.0)	605.2 (508.3)	0.451
Mg ²⁺	188.8 (125.0)	156.5 (95.6)	0.594
SO ₄ ²⁻ (Fort McMurray)	83.9 (94.5)	6.5 (1.0)	0.133
SO ₄ ²⁻ (Wolf Lake)	12.2 (7.4)	9.2 (5.8)	0.486
$H_2PO_4^{-}/HPO_4^{-2-}$	2.6 (2.2)	1.6 (0.7)	0.604
K ⁺	93.3 (58.5)	32.8 (47.3)	0.054
рН	6.3 (1.0)	5.7 (0.8)	0.366
Clay (Fort McMurray)	26.8 (8.9)	54.8 (4.7)	0.008
Clay (Wolf Lake)	11.5 (3.1)	24.2 (3.7)	0.002

	Stockpile	Mature Forest
NO ₃	1.36	1.13
Ca ²⁺	0.78	1.22
Mg ²⁺	0.69	1.02
SO4 ²⁻	1.38	0.39
H ₂ PO ₄ ⁻ /HPO ₄ ²⁻	2.85	1.56
K ⁺	0.93	0.77

Table 3.2. Coefficient of variation (CV) for stockpile and mature forests (0-10 cm, 10-20 cm,20-30 cm, and >50 cm depths included in this calculation).

Table 3.3. pH and clay content across stockpile and mature forests with depth. Standard deviation is included in parentheses. Data was collected by Kyle Stratechuk.

			Stock	pile		
Site	pH (0-10cm)	pH (10-30cm)	pH (>50cm)	clay (0-10cm) (clay (10-30cm)	clay (>50cm)
0.5	6.3	6.4	6.6	18.2	20.1	20.7
1.5	5.3	5.4	6.2	30.5	29.9	38.6
2	7.0	6.8	6.7	9.4	10.2	11.6
5	6.9	6.5	6.6	34.4	32.5	38.8
6	6.9	7.4	6.4	13.6	9.7	10.3
7	5.2	5.0	5.3	24.3	23.7	19.0
11	5.9	5.6	6.9	9.9	9.2	16.4
28	8.1	8.0	7.9	14.7	12.1	16.9
Average	6.4 (1.0)	6.4 (1.1)	6.6 (1.0)	19.4 (10.1)	18.4 (9.8)	21.5 (1.0)

Mature Forest					
Site	pH (0-10cm)	pH (10-30cm)	pH (>50cm)	clay (0-10cm) clay (10-30cm) clay (>50cm)	
M.2	6.6	7.3	8.2	12.9 22.7 21.7	
M.4	5.5	5.3	6.0	19.0 44.4 53.6	
M.6	5.6	5.8	6.0	12.7 18.4 26.9	
M.11	5.5	6.6	6.8	13.1 18.1 24.9	
M.13	4.4	4.6	7.1	40.2 52.6 59.5	
M.28	6.6	6.8	6.8	7.3 19.3 29.2	
Average	5.7 (0.9)	6.0 (1.1)	6.8 (1.0)	17.5 (13.4) 29.2 (16.7) 36.0 (16.3)	





forests.





red line represents a ratio of 1, where the supply rate at 0-10 cm is equal to the rate at >50 cm.

Chapter 4: Conclusion

4.1 Study implications and management recommendations

In Chapter 2 I found that stockpiles had a higher abundance of viable seeds than soils of mature forests, but most of them were present in the surface samples (0-5 cm), and the LFH layers for the mature forests. Salvaging down to 15-30 cm from forests will likely dilute the seed bank. However, when using stockpiles with high concentrations of weedy or undesirable species for reclamation, it might be beneficial to dilute the seed bank to give native species a better chance to establish on new reclamation sites.

The stockpiles had higher diversity than the mature forests, but most of the species present above ground and in the seed bank were grasses and non-native forbs. To prevent the takeover of grasses and non-native forbs on future reclamation sites, vegetation management may be required. As the aboveground vegetation did not match the seed bank as closely on the stockpiles compared to the mature forests, sampling of the stockpile seed bank may be beneficial for planning seeding and vegetation management on future reclamation sites. For example, some desirable species in the seed bank may not be represented aboveground. In this case, sampling only the aboveground vegetation could lead to seeding or planting of species that are already present in the seed bank.

Results from Chapter 3 demonstrated that N in the stockpiled soils was higher than in the mature forest soils. Increased N in the stockpiles could be beneficial for plant growth but can lead to an increase in seed germination in buried seeds, which will result in seed death (Baskin & Baskin 1998). Invasion of unwanted weedy species is also more likely to occur with higher N availability (Davis et al. 2000; Nordin et al. 2005).

The increased Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} availabilities in the surface layers of the stockpiles, compared to soils of the mature forests, could be beneficial for plant growth, as they aid in photosynthesis (Hepler 2005; Taiz & Zeiger 2010). However, N is considered to be the most limiting nutrient in the boreal forest (Fisher & Binkley 2000; Magnani et al. 2007), and therefore an increase in Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} may not positively impact growth. Once this stockpiled material is placed on a reclamation site it will likely be mixed again, leading to dilution in both Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} .

Even when stockpiles are salvaged from the same area, the salvaging and stockpiling process can result in nutrient variability across stockpiles. Stockpiles should be managed individually to account for the variability that can occur in NO₃⁻, SO₄²⁻, and H₂PO₄⁻/HPO₄²⁻ across stockpiles. Particularily, differences in N availability could impact plant communities if not managed for accordingly. Despite large variability in the availability of nutrients across stockpiles, grasses and non-native forb species dominated all stockpiles. Increases in N could be a factor in the outcompeting of native forest forbs and woody species. In any case, vegetation management will be required in order to reach desired plant communities in the future.

4.2 Study limitations

It is possible that our methods could have allowed for an underestimation of the number of viable seeds in the seed bank. The length of time for the germination study, as well as the lack of mixing/scarring, or treatment of the seeds could have limited the species that germinated in the greenhouse, as well as the seedling numbers. However, if seedlings are not able to germinate within four months in the field, they could be outcompeted by other species that are able to take advantage of the open conditions. Our goal was to have a realistic idea of the species that could colonize stockpiles, or sites reclaimed using stockpiles.

44

There were also limitations involved with the lab incubation. PRS probes are a useful tool to determine nutrient availability. However, when using field moist soils during the lab incubation, there were some concerns with samples becoming anaerobic, which could have affected the results. Another limitation with the lab incubation is that the samples were stored for seven months before being incubated, which likely influenced the nutrient availabilities that were found, especially for N (Van Miegroet 1995).

4.3 Future research

Future research should focus on determining changes in nutrient availability and seed viability in individual stockpiles over time. For example, sampling the same stockpiles multiple times throughout storage would be useful to examine seed loss over time. However, the challenge with sampling the same stockpiles over time is the spatial variability in seed banks, as well as the mixing and disturbance that occurs during sampling.

Knowing more about the source material would be useful to determine what was in the seed bank prior to stockpiling. A study that samples soil before stockpiling, after stockpiling, and after stockpile material placement on a reclamation site would be useful in determining changes to seed bank and chemical properties to soils after each lift. Tracking leachates from stockpiles would also be useful to investigate nutrient leaching over time during stockpiling.

Lastly, mixing during the soil stockpiling process appears to be impacting variability in seed numbers and nutrient availability with depth. However, there is still uncertainty in how long it would take trends with depth observed in mature forest sites to reappear in sites reclaimed with stockpiles, or if they would reappear at all. Tracking trends in nutrient availability with depth over time in stockpiles or sites reclaimed with stockpiles would give more information on how soil forming processes are impacted by the soil stockpiling process.

45

References

Abdul-Kareem AW, McRae SG (1984) The effects on topsoil of long-term storage in stockpiles. Plant and Soil 76:357-363

Ahlgren CE (1960) Some effects of fire on reproduction and growth of vegetation in northeastern Minnesota. Ecology 41:431-445

Alberta Environment and Parks (2017) Annual oil sands mine 2016 conservation and reclamation reports.

http://osip.alberta.ca/library/Dataset/Details/27 (accessed 27 August 2019)

Alberta Environment and Water (2012) Best Management Practices for Conservation of Reclamation Materials in the Mineable Oil Sands Region of Alberta. Prepared by MacKenzie, D. for the Terrestrial Subgroup, Best Management Practices Task Group of the Reclamation Working Group of the Cumulative Environmental Management Association, Fort McMurray, AB. March 9, 2011

- Alberta Parks (2015) Natural Regions and Subregions of Alberta. A Framework for Alberta's Parks. Alberta Tourism, Parks and Recreation. Edmonton, Alberta
- Augusto L, Dupouey JL, Picard JF, Ranger J (2001) Potential contribution of the seed bank in coniferous plantations to the restoration of native deciduous forest vegetation. Acta Oecologica 22:87–98

- Baskin CC, Baskin JM (1998) In: Seeds; Ecology, biogeography and evolution of dormancy and germination. San Diego Academic Press.
- Bartels SF, Chen HYH (2010) Is understory plant species diversity driven by resource quantity or resource heterogeneity? Ecology 91:1931–1938
- Bates D, Maechler M, Bolker B, Walker S (2015) Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using lme4. Journal of Statistical Software 67:1-48
- Bellairs SM, Bell DT (1993) Seed Stores for Restoration of Species-Rich Shrubland Vegetation Following Mining in Western Australia. Restoration Ecology 1:231-240
- Benvenuti S, Macchia M (1995) Effect of hypoxia on buried weed seed germination. Weed Research 35:343-351
- Birnbaum C, Bradshaw LE, Ruthrof KX, Fontaine JB (2017) Topsoil stockpiling in restoration:
 Impact of storage time on plant growth and symbiotic soil biota. Ecological
 Restoration 35:237-245
- Boreal Songbird Initiative (2019) Threats to the forest. <u>https://www.borealbirds.org/threats-</u> <u>canadian-boreal-forest</u> (accessed December 6, 2019)

- Bossuyt B, Hermy M (2004) Seed bank assembly follows vegetation succession in dune slacks. Journal of Vegetation Science 15:449-456
- Bossuyt B, Heyn M, Hermy M (2002) Seed bank and vegetation composition of forest stands of varying age in central Belgium: consequences for regeneration of ancient forest vegetation. Plant Ecology 162:33-48
- Bowen CK, Schuman GE, Olson RA, Ingram J (2005) Influence of topsoil depth on plant and soil attributes of 24-year old reclaimed mined lands. Arid Land Research and Management 19:267-284
- Brandt JP (2009) The extent of the North American boreal zone. Environmental Reviews 17:101– 161
- Brandt JP, Flannigan MD, Maynard DG, Thompson ID, Volney WJA (2013) An introduction to Canada's boreal zone: ecosystem processes, health, sustainability, and environmental issues. Environmental Reviews 21:207–226
- Bridge G (2004) Contested Terrain: Mining and the Environment. Annual Review Environment and Resources 29:205–259
- Brothers TS, Spingarn A (1992) Forest fragmentation and alien plant invasion of central Indiana old-growth forests. Conservation Biology 6:91-100

- Bruckner A, Kandeler E, Kampichler C (1999) Plot-scale spatial patterns of soil water content, pH, substrate-induced respiration and N mineralization in a temperate coniferous forest. Geoderma 93:207-223
- Buss J, Pinno BD (2019) Soil stockpile seed viability declines with depth and is impacted by surface vegetation. Journal American Society of Mining and Reclamation 8(1)
- Conn JS (1990) Seed viability and dormancy of 17 weed species after burial for 4.7 years in Alaska. Weed Science 38:134-138
- Cadenasso ML, Pickett ST (2001) Effect of edge structure on the flux of species into forest interiors. Conservation Biology 15:91-97

Canadian Natural Resources (2019a) Oil sands mining and upgrading. <u>https://www.cnrl.com/operations/north-america-exploration-and-production/oil-sands-</u> <u>mining (</u>accessed 1 August 2019)

Canadian Natural Resources (2019b) Primrose and Wolf Lake Thermal Insitu. <u>https://www.cnrl.com/operations/north-america-exploration-and-production/north-american-crude-oil-and-ngls/thermal-insitu-oilsands/primrose-and-wolf-lake (accessed 1 August 2019)</u>

- CEMA-SEWG (2008) SEWG Workplan Facilitation and Modelling Project: Data Input and Assumptions Cumulative Environmental Management Association-Sustainable Ecosystems Working Group. <u>http://www.cemaonline.ca</u> (accessed 19 December 2019)
- Chapin FS (1980) The mineral nutrition of wild plants. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 11:233–260
- Comino E, Miller BP, Enright NJ (2004) Soil seedbanks in natural and restored box-ironbark forests at Stawell Gold Mine, Victoria. Pacific Conservation Biology 10:9-20
- Conn JS, Beattie KL, Blanchard A (2006) Seed viability and dormancy of 17 weed species after 19.7 years of burial in Alaska. Weed Science 54:464-470
- COSIA (2013) Dean MacKenzie, Ph.D P.Ag. and Kevin Renkema, M.Sc. P.Biol. Navus Environmental Inc. In situ oil sands extraction reclamation and restoration practices and opportunities compilation. <u>https://www.cosia.ca/uploads/documents/id52/COSIA_In-</u> <u>Situ_Extraction_Reclamation_and_Restoration_Compilation.pdf</u> (accessed 26 November 2019)
- Daïnou K, Bauduin A, Bourland N, Gillet JF, Fétéké F, Doucet JL (2011) Soil seed bank characteristics in Cameroonian rainforests and implications for post-logging forest recovery. Ecological Engineering 37:1499-1506

- Das Gupta, SD, Kirby W, Pinno BD (2019) Effects of Stockpiling and Organic Matter Addition on Nutrient Bioavailability in Reclamation Soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal 83:27-41
- Davis MA, Grime JP, Ken T (2000) Fluctuating resources in plant communities: a general theory of invasibility. Journal of Ecology 88:528–534
- Davies R, Hodgkinson R, Younger A, Chapman R (1995) Nitrogen loss from a soil restored after surface mining. Journal of Environmental Quality 24:1215-1222

Davy AJ (1980) Deschampsia Caespitosa (L.) Beauv. Journal of Ecology 68:1075-1096

- Dickie JB, Gajjar KH, Birch P, Harris JA (1988) The survival of viable seeds in stored topsoil from opencast coal workings and its implications for site restoration. Biological Conservation 43:257-265
- Dickinson NM (2002) Soil degradation and nutrients. Pages 50-65 In: The restoration and management of derelict land: modern approaches. Wong MH, Bradshaw AD (eds) World Scientific.

- Dhar A, Comeau PG, Vassov R (2019) Effects of cover soil stockpiling on plant community development following reclamation of oil sands sites in Alberta. Restoration Ecology 27:352-360
- Drake DR (1998) Relationships among the seed rain, seedbank and vegetation of a Hawaiian forest. Journal of Vegetation Science 9:815-828
- Edmeades DC, Wheeler DM, Clinton OE (1985) The chemical composition and ionic strength of soil solutions from New Zealand topsoils. Soil Research 23:151-165
- Ericsson T (1995) Growth and shoot: root ratio of seedlings in relation to nutrient availability. Plant Soil 168:205–214
- Eriksson A, Eriksson O (1997) Seedling recruitment in semi-natural pastures: the effects of disturbance, seed size, phenology and seed bank. Nordic Journal of Botany 17:469-482
- Fisher RF, Binkley D (2000) Ecology and Management of Forest Soils. (Third Edition). Jon Wiley and Sons, New York, New York, USA.
- Ganzhorn JU, Goodman SM, Vincelette M (2007) Biodiversity, ecology and conservation of littoral ecosystems in Southeastern Madagascar Alonso A (eds) Washington, DC:
 Smithsonian Institution.

- Ghose, MK (2004) Effect of opencast mining on soil fertility. Journal of Scientific and Industrial Research 63:1006-1009
- Giesler R, Högberg M, Högberg P (1998) Soil chemistry and plants in Fennoscandian boreal forest as exemplified by a local gradient. Ecology 79:119-137
- Golos PJ, Dixon KW, Erickson TE (2016) Plant recruitment from the soil seed bank depends on topsoil stockpile age, height, and storage history in an arid environment. Restoration Ecology 24:53-61

Government of Canada (2019a) Canadian Climate Normals 1981-2010 Station Data <u>https://climate.weather.gc.ca/climate_normals/results_1981_2010_e.html?searchType=stn</u> <u>Prov&lstProvince=AB&txtCentralLatMin=0&txtCentralLatSec=0&txtCentralLongMin=0</u> <u>&txtCentralLongSec=0&stnID=2519&dispBack=0 (accessed 25 July 2019)</u>

Government of Canada (2019b) Canada Climate Normals 1981-2010 Station Data. <u>http://climate.weather.gc.ca/climate_normals/results_1981_2010_e.html?searchType=stnPr</u> <u>ox&txtRadius=100&selCity=&selPark=&optProxType=custom&txtCentralLatDeg=54&tx</u> <u>tCentralLatMin=46&txtCentralLatSec=21&txtCentralLongDeg=110&txtCentralLongMin=</u> <u>34&txtCentralLongSec=46&stnID=2832&dispBack=0 (accessed 25 July 2019)</u>

Government of Alberta (2017) Oil sands facts and statistics. <u>https://www.alberta.ca/oil-sandsfacts-and-statistics.aspx</u> (accessed 26 November 2019)

Government of Alberta (2019) Facts about Alberta's oil sands and its industry

https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/d5a7fec7-6e37-431c-9f33eb98510c65e4/resource/eb20740d-d1bc-4e60-b441-99f6c84998d8/download/2016-oilsands-discovery-centre-osdc-facts-about-albertas-oil-sands-and-its-industry.pdf (accessed 26 November 2019)

- Greene DF, Zasada JC, Sirois L, Kneeshaw D, Morin H, Charron I, Simard MJ (1999) A review of the regeneration dynamics of North American boreal forest tree species. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 29:824-839
- Hansen MJ, Clevenger AP (2005) The influence of disturbance and habitat on the presence of nonnative plant species along transport corridors. Biological Conservation 125:249-259
- Harrington JF (1972) Seed storage and longevity. Pages 145-245 In: seed biology. Vol. 111. Academic Press, New York
- Harris JA, Birch P, Short KC (1993) The impact of storage of soils during opencast mining on the microbial community: a strategist theory interpretation. Restoration Ecology 1:88–100
- Harris JA, P Birch, Short KC (1989) Changes in the microbial community and physico-chemical characteristics of topsoils stockpiled during opencast mining. Soil Use and Management 5:161-168

- Hawkesford M, Horst W, Kichey TMR, Lambers H, Schjørring JK, Møller IS, White P (2012) Functions of macronutrients. Pages 135-189 In: Marschner's Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants, 3rd Edn San Diego, CA: Academic Press
- Hepler PK (2005) Calcium: A central regulator of plant growth and development. Plant Cell 17:2142–2155
- Hooke R, Martín-Duque JF (2012) Land transformation by humans: A review. GSA Today 12:4-10
- Hopfensperger KN (2007) A review of similarity between seed bank and standing vegetation across ecosystems. Oikos 116:1438-1448
- Howitt RW, Pawluk S (1985) The genesis of a Gray Luvisol within the Boreal forest region. I. Static pedology. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 65:1-8
- lbrahim AE, Roberts EH, Murdoch AJ (1983) Viability of lettuce seeds: II. Survival and oxygen uptake in osmotically controlled storage. Journal of Experimental Botany 34:631-40
- Jacobi CM, Carmo FF, Vincent RC, Stehmann JR (2007) Plant communities on ironstone outcrops: a diverse and endangered Brazilian ecosystem. Biodiversity and Conservation 16:2185–2200

- Jauni M, Gripenberg S, Ramula S (2015) Non-native plant species benefit from disturbance: a meta-analysis. Oikos 124:122-129
- Johnson EH (1975) Buried seed populations in the subarctic forest east of Great Slave Lake, Northwest Territories. Canadian Journal Botany 53:2933-2941
- Johnson DW, Glass DW, Murphy JD, Stein CM, Miller WW (2010) Nutrient hot spots in some Sierra Nevada forest soils. Biogeochemistry 101:93–103
- Johnson DW, Miller WW, Rau BM, Meadows MW (2011) The nature and potential causes of nutrient hotspots in a Sierra Nevada forest soil. Soil Sci. 176:596–610
- Jordaan SM, Keith DW, Stelfox B (2009) Quantifying land use of oil sands production: a life cycle perspective. Environmental Research Letters 4(2)
- Koch JM, Ward SC, Grant CD, Ainsworth GL (1996) Effects of bauxite mine restoration operations on topsoil seed reserves in the jarrah forest of Western Australia. Restoration Ecology 4:368-376
- Kusbach A, Van Miegroet H (2013) Nutrient availability assessment method in semiarid ecosystems in the central Rocky Mountains, Utah. Soil Science Society of America Journal 77:1057-1062

- Kurz WA, Shaw CH, Boisvenue C, Stinson G, Metsaranta J, Leckie D, Dyk A, Smyth C, Neilson
 ET (2013) Carbon in Canada's boreal forest—a synthesis. Environmental Reviews 21:260–292
- La Roi G (2013) Boreal zone. Canadian Encyclopedia. https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/boreal-forest (accessed 20 October 2019)
- Lanoue A, Qualizza C (2000) LFH and shallow mineral horizons as inoculants on reclaimed areas to improve native species catch. 1999 Status Report. Syncrude Canada Ltd., Fort McMurray, Alberta, Canada.
- Larney FJ, Angers DA (2012) The role of organic amendments in soil reclamation: A review. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 92:19–38
- Laverman AM, Zoomer HR, Van Verseveld HW, Verhoef HA (2000) Temporal and spatial variation of nitrogen transformations in a coniferous forest soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 32:1661-1670
- Legendre P, Legendre LF (2012)) Chapter 7: Ecological Resemblance In: Numerical ecology Vol. 24 Elsevier.

- Lemna WK, Messersmith CG (1990) The biology of Canadian weeds. 94. Sonchus arvensis L. Canadian Journal of Plant Science 70:509-532
- Lenth R (2019) emmeans: Estimated Marginal Means, aka Least-Squares Means. R package version 1.4.1. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=emmeans</u>
- Lorenz K, Lal R (2007) Stabilization of organic carbon in chemically separated pools in reclaimed coal mine soils in Ohio. Geoderma 141:294–301
- Macdonald SE, Quideau SA, Landhäusser S (2012) Rebuilding boreal forest ecosystems after industrial disturbance. Pages 123-160 In: Restoration and reclamation of boreal ecosystems: attaining sustainable development. Cambridge University Press, London
- Mackay DB (1972) The measurement of viability. Pages 172-288 In: Viability of seeds. Springer, Dordrecht
- MacKenzie D (2011) Reclamation Using Upland Surface Soils from Boreal Forests in the Oil Sands. PhD Thesis. University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta
- MacKenzie D (2006) Assisted Natural Recovery using a Forest Soil Propagule Bank. M.Sc Thesis. Department of Renewable Resources, University of Alberta. Edmonton, Alberta

- Mackenzie DD, Naeth MA (2019) Native seed, soil and atmosphere respond to boreal forest topsoil (LFH) storage. PloS one 14(9)
- MacKenzie DD, Naeth MA (2007) Assisted natural recovery using a forest soil propagule bank in the Athabasca oil sands. Seeds Biology, Development and Ecology 374-382
- Magnani F, Mencuccini M, Borghetti M, Berbigier P, Berninger F, Delzon S, Grelle A, Hari P,
 Jarvis PG, Kolari P, Kowalski AS, Lankreijer H, Law BE, Lindroth A, Loustau D, Manca
 G, Moncrieff JB, Rayment M, Tedeschi V, Valentini R, Grace J (2007) The human
 footprint in the carbon cycle of temperate and boreal forests. Nature 447:848–850
- Maynard DG, Paré D, Thiffault E, Lafleur B, Hogg KE, Kishchuk B (2014) How do natural disturbances and human activities affect soils and tree nutrition and growth in the Canadian boreal forest? Environmental Reviews 22:161-178
- McMillan RA (2005) Forest Floor as an Amendment in Oil Sands Reclamation. MSc. Thesis, Department of Renewable Resources, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta
- Moore JM, Wein RW (1977) Viable seed populations by soil depth and potential site recolonization after disturbance. Canadian Journal of Botany 55:2408-2412

- Moss E, Packer J (1994) Flora of Alberta: a manual of flowering plants, conifers, ferns and fern allies found growing without cultivation in the Province of Alberta. University of Toronto Press
- Mushia N, Ramoelo A, Ayisi K (2016) The impact of the quality of coal mine stockpile soils on sustainable vegetation growth and productivity. Sustainability 8:546
- Naeth MA, SR Wilkinson, Mackenzie DD, Archibald HA, Powter CB (2013) Potential of LFH Mineral Soil Mixes for Land Reclamation in Alberta. In: Oil Sands Research and Information Network, University of Alberta, School of Energy and the Environment, Edmonton, Alberta. OSRIN Report No. TR-35
- Nathan R, Muller-Landau HC (2000) Spatial patterns of seed dispersal, their determinants and consequences for recruitment. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 15:278-285
- Natural Regions Committee (2006) Natural Regions and Subregions of Alberta. Compiled by D.J. Downing and W.W. Pettapiece. Government of Alberta. Pub. No. T/852

Natural Resources Canada (NRCan, 2019) Oil sands extraction and processing <u>https://www.nrcan.gc.ca/energy/energy-sources-distribution/crude-oil/oil-sands-extraction-</u> <u>and-processing/18094</u> (accessed 26 November 2019) Natural Resources Canada (NRCan, 2016) Oil sands: Land Use and Reclamation https://www.nrcan.gc.ca/energy/publications/18740 (accessed 26 November 2019)

Natural Resources Conservation Science (NRCS) (1998) Soil Quality Information Sheet. <u>https://web.extension.illinois.edu/soil/sq_info/ph.pdf</u> (accessed November 29, 2019)

Nordin A, Strengbom J, Witzell J, Näsholm T, Ericson L (2005) Nitrogen deposition and the biodiversity of boreal forests: implications for the nitrogen critical load. AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment 34:20-25

Paterson DG, Mushia MN, Mkula SD (2019) Effects of stockpiling on selected properties of opencast coal mine soils. South African Journal of Plant and Soil 36:101-106

Pembina Institute (2006) Schneider R, Dyer S. Death by a thousand cuts. <u>https://www.pembina.org/reports/1000-cuts.pdf</u> (accessed December 14, 2019)

Percy KE, Maynard DG, Legge AH (2012) Applying the forest health approach to monitoring boreal ecosystems in the Athabasca Oil Sands Region. Pages 193-217 In: Developments in Environmental Science. Elsevier.

- Potter KN, Carter FS, Doll EC (1988) Physical characteristics of some minesoils. Soil Science Society America Journal, 44:321-328
- Price G (2006) Page 45 In: Australian Soil Fertility Manual, 3rd Edition, Fertilizer Industry Federation of Australia and CSIRO
- Qi M, Scarratt JB (1998) Effect of harvesting method on seed bank dynamics in a boreal mixedwood forest in northwestern Ontario. Canadian Journal of Botany 76:872-883
- R Core Team (2019) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R foundation for statistical computing, Vienna, Austria, ISBN 3-900051-07-0. http://www.R-proje ct.org/
- Rennenberg H (1984) The fate of excess sulfur in higherplants. Annual Review of Plant Physiology 35:121–153
- Rivera D, Jáuregui BM, Peco B (2012) The fate of herbaceous seeds during topsoil stockpiling: restoration potential of seed banks. Ecological Engineering 44:94-101
- Rokich DP, Dixon KW, Sivasithamparam K, Meney KA (2000) Topsoil Handling and Storage Effects on Woodland Restoration in Western Australia. Restoration Ecology 8:196-208

- Ross DS, Bartlett RJ (1990) Effects of extraction methods and sample storage on properties of solutions obtained from forested Spodosols. Journal of Environmental Quality 19:108-113
 - Rowe JS (1983) Concepts of fire effects on plant individuals and species. The role of fire in northern circumpolar ecosystems 18
- Santos MCD, St Arnaud RJ, Anderson DW (1986) Quantitative Evaluation of Pedogenic Changes in Boralfs (Gray Luvisols) of East Central Saskatchewan 1. Soil Science Society of America Journal 50:1013-1019
- Schroeder PD, Daniels WL, Alley MM (2010) Chemical and physical properties of reconstructed mineral sand mine soils in Southeastern Virginia. Soil science, 175:2-9
- Schulze ED (1989) Air pollution and forest decline in a spruce (Picea abies) forest. Science 244:776–783
- Scoles-Sciulla SJ, DeFalco LA (2009) Seed reserves diluted during surface soil reclamation in eastern Mojave Desert. Arid Land Research and Management 23:1-13

- Sonter LJ, Ali SH, Watson JE (2018) Mining and biodiversity: key issues and research needs in conservation science. Proceedings of the Royal Society B 285(1892)
- Sorenson PT, MacKenzie MD, Quideau SA, Landhäusser SM (2017) Can spatial patterns be used to investigate aboveground-belowground links in reclaimed forests?. Ecological Engineering 104:57-66
- Sponseller RA, Gundale MJ, Futter M, Ring E, Nordin A, Näsholm T, Laudon H (2016) Nitrogen dynamics in managed boreal forests: Recent advances and future research directions. Ambio 45:175-187

Staniforth RJ, Cavers PB (1979) Field and laboratory germination responses of achenes of Polygonum lapathifolium, P. pensylvanicum, and P. persicaria. Canadian Journal of Botany 57:877-885

Stark JM, Redente EF (1987) Production potential of stockpiled topsoil. Soil Science 144:72-76

Startsev N, Lieffers VJ, Landhäusser SM (2008) Effects of leaf litter on the growth of boreal feather mosses: implication for forest floor development. Journal of Vegetation Science 19:253-260
Ste-Marie C, Paré D (1999) Soil, pH and N availability effects on net nitrification in the forest floors of a range of boreal forest stands. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 31:1579-1589

Strickler GS, Edgerton PJ (1976) Emergent seedlings from coniferous litter and soil in eastern Oregon. Ecology 57:801-807

Syncrude (2019) Ongoing reclamation activities.

https://syncrudesustainability.com/2016/environment/land.html (accessed 27 August 2019)

Tacey WH, Glossop BL (1980) Assessment of topsoil handling techniques for rehabilitation of sites mined for bauxite within the jarrah forest of Western Australia. Journal of Applied Ecology 195-201

Ussiri D, Lal R (2005) Carbon sequestration in reclaimed minesoils. Critical Reviews in Plant Science 24:151–165

Van Miegroet H (1995) Inorganic nitrogen determined by laboratory and field extractions of two forest soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal 59:549–553

- Vander Wall SB, Joyner JW (1998) Secondary dispersal by the wind of winged pine seeds across the ground surface. The American Midland Naturalist Journal 139:365–373
- Villiers TA (1973) Ageing and longevity of seeds in field conditions. Pages 265-288 In: Heydecker W (eds) Seed ecology. London, Butterworths.
- Visser S, Fujikawa J, Griffiths CL, Parkinson D (1984) Effect of topsoil storage on microbial activity, primary production and decomposition potential. Plant and Soil 82:41-50
- Werner PA, Soule JD (1976) The biology of Canadian weeds: 18. Potentilla recta L., P. norvegica L., and P. argentea L. Canadian Journal of Plant Science 56:591-603

Western Ag (2019) PRS Technology Analysis.

https://www.westernag.ca/innovations/technology/analysis_units (accessed December 8, 2019)

Wick AF, Stahl PD, Ingram LJ, Vicklund L (2009) Soil aggregation and organic carbon in shortterm stockpiles. Soil Use and Management 25:311-319

- Wick AF, Stahl PD, Ingram LJ, Vicklund L (2008) Soil aggregate and aggregate associated carbon recovery in short-term stockpiles. Proceedings America Society of Mining and Reclamation 1389-1412
- Wieder WR, Cleveland CC, Smith WK, Todd-Brown K (2015) Future productivity and carbon storage limited by terrestrial nutrient availability. Natural Geoscience 8:441–444
 - Zasada JC, Sharik TL, Nygren M (1992) The reproductive process in boreal forest trees. Pages 85-125 In: Shugart HH, Leemans R, Bonan G (eds) A system analysis of the global boreal forest. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England

Appendix

Table A1. Average probe supply rate ($\mu g/10 \text{ cm} 2/7 \text{ days}$) of nutrients, pH and clay content (%) for the stockpiles and soils of mature forests across sampling locations. Surface samples were taken from 0-10 cm, and subsurface from >50 cm. Standard deviation is included in parentheses. Results of t-test and Wilcox test are included as p-values.

Stockpiles				
	Fort McMurray	Cold Lake	р	
NO ₃	19.5 (11.7)	30.2 (15.7)	0.323	
Ca ²⁺	625.8 (326.7)	556.4 (205.5)	0.886	
Mg ²⁺	149.3 (32.7)	108.3 (43.7)	0.189	
SO ₄ ²⁻	49.1 (18.9)	8.8 (1.2)	0.023	
$H_2PO_4^{-}/HPO_4^{-2-}$	5.8 (7.1)	1.8 (0.8)	0.886	
K ⁺	54.1 (23.7)	53.2 (38.9)	0.969	
рН	5.9 (0.9)	6.9 (0.9)	0.132	
Clay	27.3 (6.6)	11.8 (1.6)	0.029	

Mature Forest

	Fort McMurray	Cold Lake	р
NO ₃	1.3 (0.2)	2.9 (1.3)	0.159
Ca ²⁺	169.8 (38.7)	400.7 (328.7)	0.267
Mg ²⁺	67.5 (5.4)	96.4 (64.8)	0.800
SO ₄ ²⁻	7.0 (0.4)	8.0 (1.2)	0.533
$H_2PO_4^{-}/HPO_4^{-2-}$	2.4 (1.8)	1.5 (0.4)	0.800
K ⁺	19.8 (7.4)	38.9 (15.7)	0.267
рН	5.3 (0.4)	6.6 (0.8)	0.267
Clay	37.5 (3.7)	16.1 (1.3)	0.133